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® (1940)
[English]

The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin, Senator, British
Columbia, C): Good afternoon, and welcome to the meeting of the
Special Joint Committee on Medical Assistance in Dying.

I'd like to begin by welcoming all the witnesses, as well as those
watching this meeting on the web.

My name is Yonah Martin, and I'm the Senate joint chair of this
committee. I'm joined by the Honourable Marc Garneau, the House
of Commons joint chair.

Today we are continuing our examination of the statutory review
of the provisions of the Criminal Code relating to medical assis-
tance in dying and their application.

The Board of Internal Economy requires that committees adhere
to health protocols, which are in effect until June 23, 2022. As joint
chairs, we will enforce these measures, and we thank you for your
co-operation.

I'd like to remind members and witnesses to keep their micro-
phones muted unless recognized by name by the joint chair. As a
reminder, all comments should be addressed through the joint chair.
When speaking, please speak slowly and clearly. Interpretation in
this video conference will work like it does in an in-person commit-
tee meeting. You have the choice at the bottom of your screen of
either the floor, English, or French.

With that, I'd like to welcome our witnesses. Thank you for your
patience, as we went a bit over time in the first hour.

I'd like to introduce our witnesses. As an individual, we have Dr.
Ramona Coelho, physician. From Disability Without Poverty, we
have Michelle Hewitt, co-chair of the board of directors; and from
Spinal Cord Injury Canada, we have Bill Adair, executive director.

Thank you to all for joining us.

We will begin with opening remarks by Dr. Coelho, followed by
Ms. Hewitt and Dr. Adair.

Dr. Coelho, you have five minutes for your testimony.
Dr. Ramona Coelho (Physician, As an Individual): Thank you,
Madam Chair.

My family medical practice cares for marginalized patients, in-
cluding those living in poverty; refugees; men out of prison who
are facing charges; the LGBTQ+ community; indigenous persons;

and those struggling with mental health, addictions, chronic pain
and disabilities.

I have experienced childhood racism, bullying and sexual abuse,
so I understand that the choice to die can easily be influenced by
injustices that life has dealt us.

At prior committees I raised concerns that inequalities and cir-
cumstances, such as poverty, trauma, lack of timely access to medi-
cal care [Technical difficulty—Editor] can lead to MAID being
raised as a treatment option to such a victim of discrimination.

I warned that many injuries and illnesses are accompanied by
transient suicidality that ends with adaptation and support, but
which on average takes two years. Then the overwhelming majority
of persons after those two years rate their quality of life as the same
as age-matched healthy individuals. Offering MAID in a period of
known increased suicidality would lead to the premature deaths of
those who would have recovered.

Now Bill C-7 is the law.

A man had a small stroke affecting his balance and swallowing.
The patient was depressed and isolated due to a COVID-19 out-
break on his ward. The stroke neurologist anticipated the man
would be able to eat normally and regain most of his balance. He
declined all therapy, and psychiatry diagnosed him with an adjust-
ment disorder, but they felt he would improve. However, he re-
quested MAID. Neither of his MAID assessors had any experience
in stroke rehabilitation and recovery.

In this acute phase while struggling with his mood and isolation
with no therapy to gauge his final level of function, he received
MAID. He had no terminal illness, but due to the fact that he was
adapting to a slightly thickened diet and so was temporarily slightly
undernourished, they considered him “track one” eligible, and he
received MAID the following week. No safeguards were technical-
ly broken, and yet he died when acutely down, isolated and had not
experienced living with maximal recovery from his stroke.

Mr. Ernest McNeill was a 71-year-old widower admitted to hos-
pital for falls. During his admission, he contracted C. difficile, an
infectious diarrheal illness. He was openly humiliated by staff for
the smell of his room. He developed a new shortness of breath that
was not comprehensively assessed. Without the patient requesting
it, a hospital team member raised and recommended MAID to him.
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The team said he had COPD, and it held a terminal prognosis.
The MAID procedure was booked by the hospital team before he
even had a second assessment, and within 48 hours of his first as-
sessment he was dead. Post-mortem tests confirmed no significant
COPD, and his family doctor also said he didn't have end-stage
COPD, but no one had contacted her for collateral history.

MAID was raised with this patient. There is no safeguard in Bill
C-7 that forbids raising MAID, and the related amendment was vot-
ed down by the Senate. CAMAP has a document called “Bringing
Up Medical Assistance in Dying”, and Susan MacDonald men-
tioned at this committee that MAID should be raised as part of the
informed consent process. Was MAID raised because his admission
was longer than expected as a result of his being a victim of
ageism? Did he choose MAID because his acute care team made
him feel horrible? His family believes so.

The “In Plain Sight” report by B.C. and the tragic story of Joyce
Echaquan demand that we take these considerations seriously.

Finally, after a CTV W5 story showed a gentleman's MAID pro-
vision, the immediate Monday afterwards, a patient let me know
that the story was super appealing and that MAID would be good
for her. My patient is in her early mid-life, has a recent spinal cord
injury and hasn't had time to adjust, receive peer support or proper
symptom control, nor reach maximal recovery, but she does now
quality for track two MAID within 90 days. The legislation is built
in a way that allows for her death before she has had a chance to
experience maximal recovery. This case also shows how the gov-
ernment must consider current suicide research showing that mes-
saging promoting suicide may lead to more people choosing it.

® (1945)

The MAID regime appears to be allowing a right to die with gov-
ernment assistance for certain groups. Inadequate safeguards sug-
gest that this has been packaged and thinly veiled as a medical pro-
cedure. If this is not the case, I ask the government to reconsider its
MAID regime.

Thank you.
The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): Thank you, Dr. Coelho.

Next, we have Ms. Hewitt.

You have five minutes, Ms. Hewitt.

Ms. Michelle Hewitt (Co-Chair, Board of Directors, Disabili-
ty Without Poverty): Thank you, Madam Chair.

I am a disabled woman with multiple sclerosis and live in
Kelowna, B.C. At times, my disease has been aggressive and it's
fairly advanced. I use a power wheelchair. I have severe fatigue and
pain that is sometimes severe. However, | have a great quality of
life.

Today, I represent Disability Without Poverty. Roughly two in 10
people living in Canada are disabled, but, among those who live in
poverty, four in 10 are disabled. Disabled people are overrepresent-
ed. There are twice as many disabled people living in poverty than
statistics alone would account for. Often, they live in abject pover-
ty, as disability assistance payments are usually as low as half or
two-thirds of the poverty line. We know disabled people have been

granted MAID because the intolerable suffering they face is caused
by poverty, yet there are conditions they would consider acceptable
to relieve that suffering.

Here are just two examples of people from B.C.

Sean had ALS and wanted to live at home. He managed to do so
for a number of years. When the constant stress of finding the right
care on his own became too much, his health authority offered to
place him in long-term care four hours away from his 10-year-old
son. Instead, Sean chose MAID. He described the funding decisions
and institutional offerings advanced by the health authority as a
death sentence.

Madeline has post-viral syndrome and has been living with it for
30 years. There are no Health Canada-approved treatments, but she
found a combination of treatments that work for her, and they all
require her to pay out-of-pocket. However, she has exhausted all
options financially and is currently getting by, month to month, on
GoFundMe payments. Madeline says that, when the money runs
out, she'll have no option but to use MAID, which she has already
qualified for. She says she has no wish to die, but she'll be facing an
unbearable wall of pain with no quality of life.

No one in Canada should ever die because they live in poverty.
Yet, for disabled people, we hasten that death. We provide a state-
sanctioned procedure for those disabled people to die. For Sean and
Madeline, we have remedies for their suffering that would have
been acceptable to them. Sean and Madeline have been vocal in the
media about their needs and the remedies for their suffering, but we
heard nothing in response to this from the government. Either the
government believes that disability accommodations set out in law
do not need to be upheld or it does not take its role to oversee
MAID safeguards seriously. Sean and Madeline's suffering came
from a social condition, not their medical conditions.

I cannot believe that was ever the intention of MAID—sanction-
ing the deaths of disabled people because they live in poverty—yet
we see it happening. I ask that you recognize the safeguards are
failing and that you support disabled lives and the Canada disability
benefit bill to ensure it lifts all disabled people out of poverty. Im-
plement wide reform to our care systems to give disabled people
the care they want. Until these conditions are met, MAID eligibility
must be restricted to those who are approaching the end of their
life, where their intolerable suffering is due to their medical condi-
tion, not the societal conditions under which they are forced to live.
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I finish with Madeline's words: “I'm trying really hard not to
freak out...but that I'm facing death for something that can be man-
aged is bloody ridiculous, and it makes me so angry. I die when I
run out of money.”

Thank you.
® (1950)

The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): Thank you very much,
Ms. Hewitt.

Lastly, we have Mr. Adair.

You have the floor for five minutes.

Mr. Bill Adair (Executive Director, Spinal Cord Injury
Canada): Thank you, Madam Chair.

I'm Bill Adair. I work for Spinal Cord Injury Canada, which was
founded in 1945 by World War II veterans who came back home to
a country that expected very little from them and who dismissed the
idea that they would be shut away in convalescent homes.

Our founders fought in battles overseas and then back home to
provide the proof that their lives are worth living. In fact, 13 of our
founders received the Order of Canada because of what they did af-
ter the war. Apparently, 72 years later, people with spinal cord in-
juries still need to fight to prove that their lives are worth living. It's
tiring fighting for existence, but here we are.

I have worked with our SCI federation for 33 of those 72 years.
Our organizations across the country support people as they adjust,
adapt and thrive while living with a spinal cord injury. I have field-
ed requests for support for half of my life. My experience as the
past chief executive officer of Spinal Cord Injury Ontario and now
as the executive director of Spinal Cord Injury Canada provides me
with a distinct expertise to talk about MAID and its potential im-
pact on people with spinal cord injuries.

I'm here to speak with you about two issues, which are the 90-
day wait period and the lack of real choice for persons when they
are offered MAID.

The 90-day wait period is arbitrary. There are very good reasons,
especially related to people with spinal cord injuries, why this wait
period should be longer. A recent study found that 50% of respon-
dents with a spinal cord injury had suicidal ideation in the first two
years post-injury. Another study found that after the first year post-
injury, more than 70% of people rated their life equal to or better
than their life pre-injury.

From my work, I know that it can take anywhere from several
months to up to seven years or more for a person to mourn their
loss and accept their new life. Rehabilitation, court battles, finding
accessible housing and possible work retraining can take years.
Sustaining a spinal cord injury is a huge life change. While laying
in bed in acute care or in rehab, a person does not possibly have all
the information needed to make a life or death decision. As you
know, it takes time to think about all the options, listen to people's
views, and understand what resources are available and what are
not. A 90-day wait is not a safeguard for the 4,000 or more people
with a new spinal cord injury in Canada each year.

Imagine the loss to our society if we allow our fellow citizens to
make a impulsive, uninformed decisions during the early stages of
rebuilding a life that is worth living. Which one of these people
could have been our next Order of Canada recipient?

My second concern is that people do not have a real choice when
they request MAID. When a person discusses MAID with a doctor,
they should also be offered other choices such as home services,
long-term care, basic living funds, suicide prevention, psychiatric
services, and safe, accessible and affordable housing. These ser-
vices are not offered or they're offered, but are not available be-
cause there's a wait list, they're too expensive or they're too far
away. The person isn't really being offered a choice, are they? The
person is in fact being denied a choice. It's MAID or nothing.

Many people with a disability suffer because of a lack of avail-
able services and being left to live in crushing poverty, not because
of their disability. In turn, the lack of available services and a life in
poverty kills hope and drives people to choose MAID to end their
misery. This is not the Canada that any of us want.

Here's my list of proposed solutions: Extend the wait period if a
person is not at the end of life. Implement the Canadian disability
benefit now. Fund trained professionals from organizations to go
into health care centres to provide peer support when someone re-
quests MAID. Build accessible, affordable housing.

® (1955)

As parliamentarians, you have a responsibility to change this
horrible situation and to prevent it. Please give my recommenda-
tions a sober second thought.

Thank you for listening and inviting me here.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): Thank you, Mr. Adair,
and thank you to all of our witnesses.

We'll go into our first round of questions, and we'll begin with
Mr. Cooper for five minutes.

Mr. Michael Cooper (St. Albert—Edmonton, CPC): Thank
you, Madam Co-Chair.

Dr. Coelho, can you elaborate a little more on the case of the first
patient you cited, who suffered from a stroke and was granted med-
ical assistance in dying under the Bill C-14 regime, despite not hav-
ing a terminal diagnosis as required by law under Bill C-14?

Dr. Ramona Coelho: Mr. Cooper, just to clarify, it was actually
more recent than that, but should have fallen under track two under
the Bill C-7 regime.
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This patient did not have any terminal comorbidities and was not
dying from his stroke. As is normal custom when someone has a
stroke and has difficulty swallowing, we progress their diet slowly
to avoid aspiration—pneumonia and things like this—and he did
not choke or aspirate before he died. The dietitian ordered a normal
progression of meals. He was eating 1,300 calories a day, which is
probably what I eat, and he ate his whole tray easily—every tray.
And, it was temporary.

However, I guess this was beyond the scope of the MAID asses-
sor's expertise, because he wasn't starving, but they decided that he
wouldn't be able to survive on a diet as such, and therefore quali-
fied him for track one so that he could die with no reflection period.

® (2000)
Mr. Michael Cooper: Thank you for that, Dr. Coelho.

Can you elaborate on the patient you were recently in contact
with who watched the W5 program, and as you said, has now found
MAID appealing?

Dr. Ramona Coelho: This is my own patient, whom I love very
much, and I asked her permission to tell her story today. She actual-
ly said, as did every single contact in every story I shared, that she
is willing to talk to this committee. I've also emailed the chairs with
other stories that I couldn't fit in here. They want to share their sto-
ries about what happened. She wants to tell you that she is very
worried about the poverty she will be thrown into if she can't go
back to work and that she'd rather die than live in poverty.

I'd be happy to be connected with the clerk, or whomever, to give
you all of these stories. They are all recent stories, including the
ones | already sent to Madam Chair and Mr. Chair.

Mr. Michael Cooper: How much time do I have, Madam Chair?

The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): You have two and a
half minutes.

Mr. Michael Cooper: Okay.

Dr. Coelho, can you elaborate on the second patient who chose
MAID on the basis of an incorrect diagnosis?

To split the time, Mr. Adair, can you talk a bit about some of the
phone calls your organization has received in regard to MAID from
persons who suffer from spinal cord injuries?

Dr. Ramona Coelho: Okay. I will try to be very, very quick.
I have actually reviewed this medical chart and met with the

family myself. The family relates that there was severe humiliation
that he endured [Technical difficulty—Editor]

The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): Dr. Coelho, your sound
is affected at this time.

Dr. Ramona Coelho: Oh, sorry. Is something wrong?

The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): Yes. Would you begin
again? Your sound cut out. I think we're having some technical dif-
ficulty.

After that, we'll get Mr. Adair to respond as well.
Go ahead, Dr. Coelho.

Dr. Ramona Coelho: Basically, I talked to the family. I re-
viewed the medical chart myself. He was being humiliated by staff.
They would leave the windows open, complain when they had to
change him. He couldn't get in touch with his family that often. He
would go hungry when they cleared his food trays. In this context,
he developed shortness of breath that wasn't comprehensively as-
sessed. He would become so confused that his oxygen, when it
slipped off his face...they had to cancel his second assessment.

The second assessor told the family that she would have to go off
the first assessment. So he received MAID in a very sloppy fashion,
without proper diagnosis. As I said, the family doctor was never
consulted and the diagnosis was not confirmed in hospital or
through collateral history taking.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): Mr. Adair.

Mr. Bill Adair: There are multiple calls that come in to our or-
ganizations across the country. I'm happy to speak about two of
them.

I had a phone call several weeks ago from a colleague who was
representing a woman who is 17 years old. She was in intensive
care and had a high-level spinal cord injury. She wanted to access
MAID. Since then, our organization has been able to connect with
the family and help them see that there is life after this initial insult
of paralysis, and she has turned away from that. We're grateful for
that, but the fact that a 17-year-old woman, who has enormous po-
tential to contribute to our country, is even considering MAID is
very problematic.

The other is a woman in her mid-30s who contacted me. She has
multiple disabilities and has been looking for housing that would
support her independence and her ability to return to work after the
onset of a second disability after having a spinal-cord injury. After
10 years, her words, to paraphrase, were “I'm ready to throw in the
towel. I cannot take this anymore. I want to lift myself out of
poverty. I want to get a job, but I can't find a place to live that will
support my independence.”

® (2005)

The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): Thank you, Mr. Adair.

Next we have Mr. Maloney. You have the floor for five minutes.

Mr. James Maloney (Etobicoke—Lakeshore, Lib.): Thanks,
Madam Joint Chair.

Thank you to all the witnesses for very compelling and helpful
testimony. It was enlightening, too, I might add.

Dr. Coelho, I agree with what you just said. Nobody should ever
have to.... The circumstances you described are appalling. I forget
the language you used, but I agree with you. It sounds to me like,
based on the facts that you presented, that this particular situation
may have been more the result of poor quality care than the laws
put in place, but that's just my interpretation.
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My question really is.... I agree with you. Nobody's financial cir-
cumstances, because they're impoverished or have mental health is-
sues or are disabled, should ever lead somebody to a situation
where MAID is the option. Are there safeguards that can be put in
place, in your opinion, that can protect against that?

I don't know if you've seen it or not, but there's an expert panel
that released their findings last week, and they addressed some of
these issues. I was looking for the specific recommendation while
you were talking. I couldn't find it, but in there somewhere is the
recommendation that there be a comprehensive process as part of
the assessment to make sure that those aren't the circumstances giv-
ing rise to the request.

Is that possible, in your opinion?

Dr. Ramona Coelho: Thank you.
Thank you, Madam Chair, for the question.

First, to touch on what you were asking about that case with neg-
ligence, possible discrimination and a longer admission than they
wanted or anticipated, I think it raises a really problematic issue.
Abby Hoffman came to this committee and said that there are no
cases, or hardly any cases, of non-compliance. It means that Health
Canada is not able to capture the data correctly for safety and moni-
toring, and that really concerns me.

The second thing, about the expert panel—I reviewed the expert
panel—is that it was actually for MAID for mental illness as a sole
condition. The expert panel is very interesting. First of all, they
never answered the question, “Can this be done for mental ill-
ness?”, considering that we have a lot of evidence that we have no
prognosticators to know for sure if someone is irremediable—actu-
ally meeting the eligibility criteria for MAID—and if this is really a
medical procedure.

Secondly, they offer 19 cautions. There are 19 things that they
consider to be very dangerous—

Mr. James Maloney: Let me focus. Do you think there could be
safeguards put in place to protect against the concerns you've
raised? That's my real question.

Dr. Ramona Coelho: If you heard me in Bill C-7, I proposed
several safeguards, including never raising it with a patient, as they
do in Australian legislation. People should be able, in their profes-
sional integrity, to decline things.

For scientific data, for example, with patients with disabilities,
where we know the outcome takes years, there was an MP Green
who tried to put forward an amendment to make sure that psy-
chosocial issues were not the reason people were getting MAID.
That was voted down.

I feel that the MAID regime is really dangerous.

Mr. James Maloney: Have you put these suggestions in writing
and submitted them to the committee?

Dr. Ramona Coelho: I did send a brief on May 6, and it is still
not up in the written testimony.

Mr. James Maloney: Is everything you've just said contained in
there—all of these suggestions you're talking about?

Dr. Ramona Coelho: I can resend you my testimony on Bill
C-7, if it's helpful, Madam Chair.

Mr. James Maloney: If you want to do that, that would be use-
ful.

My question is then for everybody. I'm running out of time, and I
apologize.

I recently attended a presentation at a palliative care facility. It
was interesting to me, because they said that at the beginning when
MAID first became the law in Canada, 12 out of 12 doctors at the
facility were opposed to it. Six months later, six were accepting,
and now all 12 are accepting it because that's what the patients
wanted.

My question to all three of you is: Has there been any change in
the thinking in the disability community over the last number of
years?

I'll start with you, Mr. Adair.
® (2010)

The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): There's less than a
minute, so perhaps two of the witnesses could answer that, Mr.
Maloney. We'll have Mr. Adair first.

Mr. Bill Adair: I don't know that there's been any growth in that
area that I'm aware of. You'd have to ask others who have more in-
formation and expertise.

Mr. James Maloney: Ms. Hewitt, what about you?

Ms. Michelle Hewitt: I would also say that I don't have data to
support it, but certainly anecdotally, people within the disability
community are talking about MAID more often and seeing it as a
response to societal conditions more than medical conditions. They
feel that they're suffering and that there is a solution to it. They're
not getting that solution; so, therefore, it's MAID.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): Thank you very much.

Next we'll have Monsieur Thériault.

[Translation]

Mr. Thériault, you have the floor for five minutes.
Mr. Luc Thériault (Montcalm, BQ): Thank you, Madam Chair.

Thanks to the witnesses for their testimony, which will help us in
our deliberations.

Il go to you first, Mr. Adair.

I want to thank you because your association is important. It
shocks the collective imagination when someone in his or her twen-
ties suddenly suffers a spinal cord injury. It causes a radical change
to that person's life.

The handicap is obviously a social one, but the disability is indi-
vidual. Where there's an individual disability, whatever it may be,
the social handicap must made as insignificant as possible. It's a
constant struggle, and you strive to make these disabilities less and
less debilitating. However, I imagine it's still a shock.
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You'd like to have stronger safeguards. I understand that. As a
health professional, do you think the safeguard of avoiding any dis-
cussion of MAID with the patient immediately following the shock
would be helpful to you and your patients?

[English]

Mr. Bill Adair: The best safeguard is to work with the family
and with the person who has the new injury and connect them with
families and individuals who have gone through this initial phase of
terrifying shock in many ways, and have gotten through that and
have rebuilt amazing lives. Many lives are, as I said before,
stronger and more satisfying than they were before the injury.

Certainly not mentioning the option of MAID to people with new
injuries would be preferable, and just not having it available until
people have had an opportunity to test life and to find out the kind
of dreams they can build and will be able to pursue in their new
life.

[Translation]

Mr. Luc Thériault: Mr. Adair, don't you think it's good medical
practice not to suggest that option following a traumatic shock of
that scope?

I obviously agree with you that these people must be cared for in
the best possible way and assisted in considering their life prospects
and how they can contribute to society. I understand all that. As you
said, the process you describe may extend over two, three, five or
seven years.

Can you see how, in the minds of some people who have gone
through that process for five or six years, medical assistance in dy-
ing might be the only possible option, despite all your good care?

® (2015)
[English]
Mr. Bill Adair: The first point is that I don't think MAID should

be mentioned or offered to people when they are in acute care or
even in rehabilitation after sustaining a spinal cord injury.

Do I think people, down the road after seven years or eight
years...? It is, again, a situation where it's important to look at all
the variables. It's a hypothetical situation. I can't say it would be a
good thing or not.

I can say that I have not witnessed that. I have witnessed that af-
ter people turn the corner and rebuild their dreams and their lives,
suicide is not something they turn back to, other than if they face
multiple compounding problems in the social supports area. Hous-
ing is a major theme. The issues of affordable, accessible housing
and living in poverty are crushers. They crush people's souls.

I think it's also important to say, sir, that I don't speak for every-
one with a spinal cord injury. Each person is an individual who ulti-
mately has a right to decide, if there is in fact informed choice and
a real choice.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): Thank you very much,
Mr. Thériault.

Next, we have Mr. MacGregor.

You have the floor for five minutes.

Mr. Alistair MacGregor (Cowichan—Malahat—Langford,
NDP): Thank you very much, Madam Chair.

Ms. Hewitt, I'd like to start my questioning with you.

The mandate of our committee is actually quite broad. We were
appointed to review the provisions of the Criminal Code relating to
medical assistance in dying and their application, but we're also in-
cluding things like mature minors, advance requests, mental illness,
the state of palliative care in Canada and also the protection of
Canadians with disabilities.

When you think of that last part—that the protection of Canadi-
ans with disabilities is part of our committee's mandate—what
comes to mind for you with regard to that instruction to this com-
mittee from the House of Commons?

Ms. Michelle Hewitt: For me, that part of your mandate is why I
asked to be a witness at this committee. I strongly believe that, as a
nation, we're not protecting disabled people at the moment. I
strongly believe that you cannot advance with the expansion of
MAID until we've dealt with some of those issues.

For example, 7% of the people living in our long-term care facil-
ities are younger disabled people who have no other option but to
live there. I can tell you that they don't want to be there. Of course,
the person I talked about, Sean, who passed away through MAID
before Bill C-7, did not want to be there either, and he chose MAID
over living in long-term care. That tells me that we are not protect-
ing these people.

This is a real concern to me as someone with MS and someone
who advocates for the MS Society, as well as Disability Without
Poverty. We're not providing these basic societal conditions so that
disabled people are able to have a choice about their futures. An in-
stitutional life somewhere that is designed for 85-year-olds with de-
mentia when you're in your thirties or your forties—and, as Mr.
Adair talked about, you're often in this rehab phase where your sit-
uation is new to you—is crushing. On top of that, you're going to
be living in poverty.

Here in B.C., in our long-term care homes, the average amount
of care a day is 3.28 hours. That's not per person, that's an average.
If there's somebody in the facility who needs more time, such as
that person with severe dementia who needs time, they are not get-
ting those 3.28 hours. They're getting substantially less.

For people with MS, fatigue needs and so on... I know many peo-
ple for whom the fear of long-term care would...they would prefer
to choose to be eligible for MAID, and it seems that the eligibility
is happening at the moment.

® (2020)

Mr. Alistair MacGregor: You made a great deal of separating
intolerable suffering from a medical condition versus a person's so-
cial conditions. We don't want to speak with a broad brush for ev-
eryone. Everyone's different and it's a very subjective term.
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For you, thinking about the safeguards at a bare minimum, what
do you want to see in terms of protections, so that social conditions
are not influencing a person and that they are looked after? They
may still feel that their medical condition, despite all the supports
they may have, is still leading them to a life of intolerable suffering.

What's the bare minimum that we need to be aiming for as a
country?

Ms. Michelle Hewitt: Madeline, who I talked about, is a friend
of mine. I know that you're in B.C. and Madeline is in B.C. She has
treatment options that have worked for her, and they have now been
removed because she can't afford to pay for them.

If there is a track record of treatment that works, the removal of
that treatment cannot, therefore, lead to MAID. I believe that where
the person is able to state what they need to have that intolerable
suffering removed, those should be in place before they become eli-
gible for MAID. If we cannot do that as a country, we must return
to that original sense of MAID being towards the end of life for ter-
minal conditions, and we have to fix those conditions for disabled
people.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): Thank you.
I'l now hand this over to my fellow chair for the round of ques-
tions by senators.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Marc Garneau, Senator, Notre-Dame-
de-Grace—Westmount, Lib.): Thank you, Senator.

[Translation]
We will now go to the round of questions from the senators.

Since some senators had to leave the meeting, the first three sen-
ators will have four minutes each.

We will begin with Senator Mégie.

Go ahead, Senator Mégie.

Hon. Marie-Francoise Mégie (Senator, Quebec (Rougemont),
ISG): Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Thanks to the witnesses for providing us with this information.

My first question is for you, Dr. Coelho, and I would ask you to
answer briefly.

When I practised medicine, one of my patients had multiple scle-
rosis. He suffered greatly and had only vestigial mobility in his fin-
gers as he tried to bring his hand up to his mouth. He asked me to
do nothing and to let him die if one day his heart stopped beating.
One day his heart did stop and we reanimated him. He later told me
that he was happy we had done so, that he was all there mentally
and that he didn't want to die.

Do you have those kinds of patients?

If we were to transport that patient 20 years forward to the
present, to 2022, would that kind of patient request medical assis-
tance in dying?

I'd like you to paint a picture here, but briefly, because I also
have a question for Ms. Hewitt.

[English]

Dr. Ramona Coelho: I will try my best, and thank you for the
question.

Through Mr. Chair, I would say that I also did home care for
people with severe mental health addictions, dementia and disabili-
ties in Montreal before I relocated to London. Many, many times
I've accompanied people through suffering—medical and psy-
chosocial suffering—and they were able to overcome this and be
super happy to be alive. Most of it required time. The CLSC system
in Montreal was amazing when I was there. We had PSWs and a
whole care team, and we were able to abate those death wishes.

[Translation]

Hon. Marie-Francoise Mégie: Thank you.

My next question is for Ms. Hewitt. Mr. Adair may answer it too,
if he wishes.

I know you've seen the letter that 43 senators signed in Jan-
uary 2022 asking the federal government to promote Bill C-35. The
purpose of that bill was to create the Canada disability benefit. Do
you think that introducing a guaranteed basic income for persons
with disabilities would be enough to prevent them from requesting
medical assistance in dying?

® (2025)
[English]
Ms. Michelle Hewitt: Thank you so much for your question.

I think there are many things about the Canada disability benefit
that are still unknown, such as eligibility and the amount. There are
also things that relate to how much it actually costs, and where the
poverty line would sit if you are somebody who is disabled. Re-
search from other countries would say that the line is 40% more for
the disabled than for those who don't have disabilities.

The poverty line is the poverty line. A common phrase that I
know Mr. Adair has heard me use is that “it's not lollipops and rain-
bows; it's still the poverty line”. It's a start of where we need to get
people to. Mr. Adair spoke of housing. When it comes to treatment,
we need people to be able to function so that they can deal with
their disability rather than dealing with the double whammy of their
disability and abject poverty.

It's a start, but do I think that the Canada disability benefit alone
will stop disabled people accessing MAID? My personal opinion is
no, that it's one of a package of measures that we need to do as a
country.

[Translation]

The Joint Chair (Hon. Marc Garneau): Thank you, Sena-
tor Mégie.

We will continue with Senator Kutcher.

Go ahead.
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[English]

Hon. Stan Kutcher (Senator, Nova Scotia, ISG): Thank you
very much, Mr. Chair.

I have three short questions for Dr. Coelho, and then one slightly
longer one for Michelle Hewitt.

Dr. Coelho, we have heard that many MAID providers are family
physicians. I'm wondering if there is a consensus amongst family
physicians that they all should inform patients about MAID even if
their conscience precludes it.

Dr. Ramona Coelho: I'm so sorry Senator Kutcher; I don't know
what you're talking about.

Hon. Stan Kutcher: What if a family physician feels that in
their conscience they shouldn't tell a patient about MAID? Do all
family physicians think that every family physician must, at all
times, tell patients about MAID being available?

Dr. Ramona Coelho: I'm so sorry, I'm struggling. I don't know
that there's any consensus on this issue. I am saying that Susan
MacDonald and other people at the committee said that it should be
part of informed consent, and I'm saying that's a very dangerous
principle to apply when we know that there's discrimination in
health care, like the B.C. report, “In Plain Sight”, demonstrates.

Hon. Stan Kutcher: I appreciate that. That's what I was asking,
whether there was consensus on that.

The second question, again, is on family physicians. Do they
have consensus about MAID being provided to track one patients,
as they currently are identified. Is there consensus amongst family
physicians that they should be provided with it?

Dr. Ramona Coelho: Again, through you, Mr. Chair, Senator
Kutcher, I don't actually know. I'm not an academic family physi-
cian; I'm a family physician who works, really, on the margins. I do
connect with other family doctors who work in marginalized com-
munities. We are all concerned about this. I have no idea, and I
can't comment on the consensus of family doctors.

Hon. Stan Kutcher: Okay. So, you wouldn't know whether
there's a consensus, or not a consensus, among family doctors about
any aspect of the provision of MAID.

Dr. Ramona Coelho: I really wouldn't, so I can't answer the
question. I'm sorry.

Hon. Stan Kutcher: Thank you very much. I appreciate your
trying.

Michelle Hewitt, I think that everyone on this committee would
agree that poverty and any other social or economic factors should
not be the driver for MAID. The expert committee report noted that
persons with a disability who request MAID should be offered
housing and income assistance and other needed supports.

Would you agree that such safeguards should be provided to any
person with disability who requests MAID?

Ms. Michelle Hewitt: I would say that housing and not having
to live in poverty, as well as access to treatment, should be provided
to all disabled people, whether they are approaching MAID or not.
I believe that disabled lives are worth living, that we contribute to
our society in so many ways, and at the moment there is a lot of

suffering in the disability community that isn't caused by our dis-
abilities or impairments. It's caused by—

® (2030)

Hon. Stan Kutcher: I completely agree with you on that. How-
ever, our discussion is about MAID.

Ms. Michelle Hewitt: Right.

Hon. Stan Kutcher: The question is, if a person is disabled and
doesn't have adequate housing and adequate social supports, as part
of that MAID assessment, should those be offered to the person?
That's the question.

Ms. Michelle Hewitt: Absolutely.
Hon. Stan Kutcher: How urgent would that be, in your opinion?

Ms. Michelle Hewitt: 1 would say that it's extremely urgent. A
person who has got to the position of applying for MAID is already
in crisis and would need a lot of support to put those complex
pieces in place.

I would hope that's what we would be offering, that there would
be a position, a person, a body, who would examine those complex
pieces that go into those decisions.

I used the example of my friend Madeline. She knows exactly
what she needs in order not to access MAID. She needs the treat-
ment options that she can't afford and that work for her successful-

ly.
Hon. Stan Kutcher: Right.

So if someone says, look, this is helpful to me and I need it, this
should be considered, and every effort should be made to provide
that to them.

Ms. Michelle Hewitt: Absolutely.
Hon. Stan Kutcher: Thank you very much.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Marc Garneau): Thank you very much,
Senator.

[Translation]
Now it's Senator Dalphond's turn.

Senator Dalphond, you have four minutes.

Hon. Pierre Dalphond (Senator, Quebec (De Lorimier),
PSG): Thank you, Mr. Chair.

[English]
My question will be for Ms. Hewitt.

You saw the task force report, and I'm sure you read it, as I did.
The members of the group expressed consensus on the way the
evaluation should be made, and they stressed the importance of so-
cio-economic factors in the thinking process of the requester.
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Am I to understand, from what you say, that this is not enough?
If what they are proposing to make sure that the assessment rests on
proper informed consent and not a short reaction to socio-economic
difficulties is not enough, what kinds of other guidelines would you
suggest we have to prevent people from requesting—not request-
ing, but receiving MAID? There's a distinction before requesting it
and getting the assessors to agree that you're entitled to it.

Ms. Michelle Hewitt: I'm sorry, was that addressed to me? I
think it was.

Hon. Pierre Dalphond: Yes. Sorry, [ wasn't clear.

Ms. Michelle Hewitt: As I just mentioned, I think the role there
has to not be just to examine those conditions leading someone to
follow through with MAID, but the solutions have to be put in
place. That's the piece that is missing, that the assessor sees there
are these extraordinary needs that are causing this suffering.

We go to great lengths in this country to take care of all kinds of
people in all kinds of ways. We had an incredible response when
we started the pandemic. We found vaccines and we rolled them
out and those sorts of things. We rose to the challenge. We are not
rising to that challenge when it comes to people who are in such
crisis that they are not only asking to access MAID, but they are
following through and dying.

I can only refer you back to my friend Madeline and her desper-
ate need for treatment.

Hon. Pierre Dalphond: Do you think, for example, as one of the
safeguards is a 90-day period, if somebody's in crisis, time will
maybe help to solve the crisis? The assessors must try to under-
stand the real reason why the person is asking to have access to
MAID and try to redirect that person to proper social assistance, if
available.

® (2035)

Ms. Michelle Hewitt: My question would be back to you all.
What if that proper assistance is not available, but it is still neces-
sary to relieve that suffering?

I strongly urge you to say that we're better than this. We can find
these solutions for these people. Accessing MAID for non-medical
reasons—for suffering that can be alleviated by other conditions—
is simply unacceptable. With those safeguards and in those 90 days,
what are those assessors going to do? Who's going to take that re-
sponsibility?

Are you, as parliamentarians, going to stand up and say that you
will fund those things that desperately need to happen? That's what
we need.

Hon. Pierre Dalphond: Thank you.
[Translation)

The Joint Chair (Hon. Marc Garneau): Thank you, Sena-
tor Dalphond.

[English]
We'll now go to Senator Martin for three minutes.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): Thank you, Mr. Co-
Chair.

I want to thank the witnesses for your very compelling testi-
monies.

Mr. Adair, my father suffered from spinal cord injury. He showed
us his incredible strength through the suffering he endured. Thank
you for your important work.

My question is for Dr. Coelho.

I'm wondering if you could comment on the scope of MAID
that's being looked at by our committee. Do you have any com-
ments as a family physician and from the experience you bring?

Dr. Ramona Coelho: Thank you.

I've watched every hour of the AMAD committee thus far. Up
until today, committee members have disputed the truthfulness of
stories that have been shared by witnesses who have come forward
and said that MAID professionals are beyond question.

Consistently, there has been talking on top of experts who have
been warning about caution and even questioning their integrity. As
well, some physicians on the committee have really failed to pro-
vide the expected medical expertise surrounding clinical epidemiol-
ogy or correct guidance on how to approach this as a medical pro-
cedure.

The cases of concern that we've all mentioned signal that the
MAID regime safeguards do not work to protect Canadians. These
stories contradict the statements by Abby Hoffman in committee,
which were that there are simply no problems with the MAID
regime. They actually point to inadequate data collection. You can't
make good decisions if you don't have data.

Committee members asking loaded questions with only one-
word answers have tried to paint concerned witnesses as wanting
Canadians to suffer through years of useless treatment, but actually
the reality is that patients are waiting years for treatment and this
wears people down.

Consider that Ellen Wiebe testified that if someone wanted
MAID, because it took five years to access the service, she would
consider that irremediable. Patients with unaddressed psychosocial
suffering will, therefore, be given MAID by assessors like her.

Audrey Baylis said she'd rather die than live in a nursing home.
That is actually a statement about the atrocious state of our under-
funded long-term care centres.

Also, I keep hearing a recurring legal argument that withholding
MAID from certain groups is discriminatory, but this is not how
medicine works. In medicine, we have strict, medical standard-of-
care safeguards, as well as required eligibility to meet criteria for a
treatment. Persons with mental illness with or without disability,
which is often exacerbated by psychosocial suffering, have a dis-
ease process that can predispose them to suicidality with no proof
that their suffering is irremediable. We just don't have the evidence.
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Thomas Insel, former head of the NIMH, wrote a book called
Healing, in which he confirms the unknown prognosis of mental
health disorders and outlines how prognosis does depend on com-
munity life, supports and productivity—purpose.

In light of this, the government providing death as an option
while simultaneously failing in its duty to provide timely care, sup-
ports, enriching community life and livable income is actually quite
shameful.

Mr. Luc Thériault reassured us that if the expert panel and spe-
cial joint committee arrive at the conclusion, that mental illness
should be excluded, we should be reassured it would be, but we
know now that the expert panel didn't even weigh in on that impor-
tant question.

The Quebec commission has decided that MAID for mental ill-
ness should be excluded.

Mr. Chair, thank you for inviting me. The work of this committee
is so important. I ask you for an honest review because your MAID
regime is very dangerous.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Marc Garneau): Thank you, Doctor.
Thank you, Senator Martin.

This concludes our first panel. On behalf of all the committee
members, I want to thank Dr. Coelho, Ms. Michelle Hewitt and Mr.
Bill Adair for giving their time this evening on this extremely im-
portant topic of the theme of people living with disabilities in the
context of medical assistance in dying. Your testimony and your
candour in answering our questions are very much appreciated.

We still have a long way to go. We hope you'll follow us as we
move forward. Your testimony tonight is very much a part of it, so
thank you very much.

With that, colleagues, we will suspend briefly in preparation for
the next panel.

Mr. Clerk, tell me when the panellists are up and checked so we
can get going and start right away. Thank you.

® (039 (Pause)

® (2040)

The Joint Chair (Hon. Marc Garneau): Welcome to our wit-
nesses this evening. For the benefit of the committee, we have the
following people with us. We have Jocelyne Landry, who is appear-
ing as an individual. From the Quebec Intellectual Disability Soci-
ety, we have Madame Amélie Duranleau, executive director.

[Translation]

She is accompanied by Samuel Ragot, who is a senior policy an-
alyst and advocacy advisor.

[English]

We also have, from the Wabanaki Council on Disability, Mr.
Conrad Saulis, executive director.

Thank you for joining us.

The way we do this starts with opening remarks. Each of you
will be given five minutes to make an opening presentation and
we'll follow that with questions.

With that, I would like to invite Ms. Landry to begin, followed
by Ms. Duranleau and then Mr. Saulis.

Ms. Landry, you have the microphone for five minutes.
[Translation]

Ms. Jocelyne Landry (As an Individual): Thank you,
Mr. Chair.

I won't need five minutes.

I come from a region in northern New Brunswick, more specifi-
cally from a tiny village called Balmoral. I live in Charlo, on the
coast of the Bay of Chaleur. I'm here because my father requested
medical assistance in dying two years ago. That's why I agreed to
appear before you and to share my experience.

My father had convictions and the courage of those convictions.
He was at the end of his life. He had cancer and was really suffer-
ing at the end. He had told us several years before then that he had
made his decision. As a family, we of course respected that deci-
sion. I'm not happy about losing my father, but I'm happy that he
had access to medical assistance in dying and that he was able to
choose how he wanted to leave us.

That's my experience in a nutshell. Thank you.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Marc Garneau): Thank you very much,
Ms. Landry.

[English]

Next, from the Quebec Intellectual Disability Society, we have
Ms. Amélie Duranleau.

Ms. Duranleau, you have five minutes.
® (2045)
[Translation]

Ms. Amélie Duranleau (Executive Director, Quebec Intellec-
tual Disability Society): Thank you very much.

Ladies and gentlemen, members of the Special Joint Committee
on Medical Assistance in Dying, or MAiD, we would first like to
thank you for the opportunity you have given the Quebec Intellec-
tual Disability Society today.

We wish to make it clear that our organization is not opposed to
medical assistance in dying for people nearing the end of their
lives. Rather, we ask that adequate safeguards be put in place to en-
sure that no abuses occur. We believe that legislators must be cau-
tious and consider the systemic forces that could threaten people
with disabilities and specifically people with intellectual disabili-
ties.
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It should be noted here that intellectual disability, or disability in
general, should never be a criterion for access to MAiD. With the
necessary support and appropriate accommodations, people with in-
tellectual disabilities can live fulfilling and rich lives. If people find
themselves living with intolerable suffering related to their intellec-
tual disability, it is because society does not include them, and they
lack services.

The Society is also very concerned about the possibility of autho-
rizing substituted consent for incapacitated persons at all stages of
MAID applications. This possibility had been raised by the Quebec
National Assembly and, even if such a question is not under consid-
eration today, it is important to discuss it.

On the one hand, the use of MAID should always be tied to the
validation of a free and informed consent from the person who will
receive it; on the other hand, it may be difficult to assess this con-
sent for incapacitated persons, especially those with a more severe
intellectual disability. If these persons experience distress in rela-
tion to the death of someone close to them, it is generally more dif-
ficult for them to understand the permanent and irreversible nature
of their own death. We therefore call on the legislator not to allow
substituted consent for those who lack capacity to consent.

Regarding the legislator's desire to potentially allow the use of
advance directives for access to MAiD, we would like to refocus
the debate on the issue of the validity of consent in these situations.
Asking a third party to consent to a procedure that leads to death
through a substituted decision-making process is different from
making advance requests to refuse certain procedures that may lead
to natural death. In this light, opening the door to substituted con-
sent, even for people who had previously consented, seems to us to
be potentially dangerous and to fail to respect the spirit of the
Carter decision which put the issue of consent at the heart of access
to MAID.

In our view, it is important to provide satisfactory alternatives for
people with disabilities. This position has been advanced by the
Canadian Human Rights Commission. Universal and high-quality
public services, in sufficient quantity, must be provided to people
who need them. Indeed, this is an obligation that Canada has to-
wards people with disabilities under the Convention on the Rights
of Persons with Disabilities. Thus, satisfactory alternatives are
needed to provide a dignified life for people with disabilities and
for the Canadian population in general.

As mentioned previously, we believe that MAiID should be a
measure of last resort for people who are capable of giving free and
informed consent and who, at the end of life, are living in unbear-
able suffering. We also distinguish between the issues of advance
care directives and advance directives in relation to MAiD. The for-
mer allows for natural death, while the latter entails the use of an
active procedure that ends life without clear and validated consent.

Furthermore, we believe that substituted consent should never be
allowed for incapacitated persons, as they cannot provide free and
informed consent. The Carter decision put the issue of consent at
the heart of access to MAID. It is important to respect this funda-
mental principle of health justice and ethics.

Finally, in the event that people with intellectual disabilities at
the end of their lives make an application on their own, without any
undue pressure, then we believe that they should be assessed like
all other people, as long as their access to MAID is not granted on
the basis of disability.

® (2050)

However, it is important to have stronger safeguards in place to
prevent ableism and the devaluation of the lives of people with dis-
abilities.

Thank you.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Marc Garneau): Thank you very much,
Ms. Duranleau.

[English]
We'll now go to Mr. Conrad Saulis.

Mr. Saulis, you have five minutes.

Mr. Conrad Saulis (Executive Director, Wabanaki Council on
Disability): Woli-Wolagiwiw. Good evening.

Woliwon, thank you for the opportunity to present to your com-
mittee this evening.

My name is Conrad Saulis. I am with the Wabanaki Council on
Disability. We work to support indigenous persons with disabilities
living on our traditional and ancestral Wabanaki lands. We work
closely with a key partner, the Mawita'mk Society, an on-reserve
group home providing services to persons with disabilities.

I want to acknowledge that I'm speaking to you this evening
from and on the sacred, unceded, unsurrendered ancestral lands of
the Algonquin nation.

I will right away that MAID is not a readily welcomed concept
or term for indigenous peoples of the Wabanaki lands. We have ex-
perienced far too much death in our families, communities and na-
tions since first contact. Colonization has brought over 500 years of
death, language and cultural knowledge loss, and loss of our ances-
tral lands for our nations and people. Believe me when I say that we
are far beyond tired of losing things, including our identities as
Wolastogey, Mi'kmaq, Innu and Inuit, and our cherished family
members.

We are tired of mourning the loss and deaths of our young people
and of persons with disabilities. Both of these populations are
amongst the most highly vulnerable peoples of this country and we
believe that we must do everything we can to help them to continue
to live their lives, find their identities and be meaningful people in
our families, communities and our societies. Rather than finding
ways of ending the lives of our young people and persons with dis-
abilities, we would rather so much want to be finding the ways to
extend their lives and to keep them in our families.

Our families have lost far too many children and youth during
the residential and day schools era, which lasted for over 125 years.
We have lost too many children and youth to child welfare agen-
cies. What we want is to find ways to keep individuals, families and
communities strong and to be embraced in our languages, in our
cultures and in our traditional ancestral knowledge.
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We want to establish the programs, services and supports that our
youth and persons with disabilities need. They do not need to find a
way to die; they need to find ways to re-establish their self worth to
combat mental illness. We want them to be well. They want to be
well. We want them to be well in their emotional, spiritual, physical
and mental aspects. We want them to be well in the holistic views
of our ancestors within the teachings of the medicine wheel. We
want to see the world, Mother Earth and life that she sustains from
the values of our ancestors through the Wabanaki world view of re-
specting all life.

We don't need or want to establish more ways for indigenous
youth to die. There's enough death in our communities and families
already. There are already enough existing threats.

There is so much systemic discrimination in the Canadian medi-
cal system. I remember, and we should all remember, Joyce
Echaquan and the humiliation she experienced, which contributed
to her unnecessary death in a hospital. Ms. Echaquan, sadly, is only
one example of the indigenous people who have died due to sys-
temic racism. There are many more in this country.

I reached out to indigenous youth last week on MAID. Their fear
was immediate. Their fear of MAID lasted throughout our conver-
sation. They spoke of mental wellness challenges, of youth suicides
in their families and communities. They wanted to speak about how
we can help our youth to be mentally well and speak the languages
of their ancestors as a way to improve their self worth, value and
identities. They spoke about how their youth group and conversa-
tions are part of their healing. Talking is healing. Being around peo-
ple you trust and who care about you is healing.

My mother spent her later life helping to heal Wolastogey chil-
dren by teaching them the Wolastoqgey language in the school they
attended. The school was a part of the provincial education system,
located in the city, not on a reserve. She's passed into the spirit
world now, but her legacy continues in the lives of those children
she positively impacted through the language and cultural learning.

® (2055)

One of our regional partners stated:

All indigenous youth have specific lived experiences with intergenerational trau-
ma stemming from displacement/forced relocations from ancestral lands, the In-
dian Act, Indian Residential School, the foster care system, etcetera. For these
reasons, we know and have empirical evidence to show that Indigenous youth
mental health is poorer compared to non-Indigenous youths' mental health.

Last week the Wabano Health Centre and the Ottawa Aboriginal
Coalition released a new report focused on racism in the health care

field titled “Share Your Story, Indigenous-Specific Racism in
Health Care Across the Champlain Region.”

Amongst the findings they presented in the report are these:

There were five stereotypes that emerged from the data: 1. Indigenous people
are racially inferior; 2. Indigenous people are diseased, addicted, and mentally
unwell; 3. Indigenous people are a burden; 4. Indigenous people are angry and
aggressive; 5. Indigenous people are bad parents.

I recommend that you invite the Wabano Health Centre and the
Ottawa Aboriginal Coalition to present to you as well.

Woliwon psi-te wen. Thank you, everyone.
The Joint Chair (Hon. Marc Garneau): Thank you, Mr. Saulis.

I will now hand it over to my fellow chair, Senator Martin.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): Thank you.

We'll begin with questions for a five-minute round. The first
questioner will be MP Dominique Vien.

[Translation]

Mrs. Dominique Vien (Bellechasse—Les Etchemins—Lévis,
CPC): Thank you very much, Madam Chair.

1 want to thank our guests for agreeing to meet with us this
evening despite the late hour.

Good evening, Ms. Duranleau, and thank you for being here.

The use of medical assistance in dying for persons living with an
intellectual disability is obviously a concern, and, if my understand-
ing is correct, you're opposed to it.

My knowledge in this field is limited, but I understand there's a
gradation across the spectrum of intellectual disabilities. Is that in
fact the case?

Ms. Amélie Duranleau: Yes, there is a gradation.

We're talking here about medical assistance in dying for persons
who are incapable of making decisions regarding their health. I
want to emphasize that they represent only a segment of persons
with intellectual disabilities. I must emphasize that many persons
with intellectual disabilities would be able to request MAID on
their own because they're capable of making decisions concerning
their own lives.

I'm going to yield the floor to my colleague, Mr. Ragot, so he can
round out this part of the answer.

Mr. Samuel Ragot (Senior Policy Analyst and Advocacy Ad-
visor, Quebec Intellectual Disability Society): Thank you.

Some people with mild intellectual disabilities are entirely capa-
ble of requesting medical assistance in dying for themselves. How-
ever, it's important that the decision be made without undue pres-
sure, that the individual truly give free and informed consent, and
that the request not be made for economic or social reasons. The re-
quest for MAID must truly be made in an end-of-life context in
which the person is experiencing intolerable suffering consistent
with the current criteria of the first component of Quebec's Act re-
specting end-of-life care.

Mrs. Dominique Vien: So, as I understand it, that's an essential
condition for you.

Mr. Samuel Ragot: That's absolutely the case.
Mrs. Dominique Vien: What kind of abuses are you afraid of?

Mr. Samuel Ragot: That's an excellent question.
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Sometimes, for example, we get calls from aging parents who
have children with intellectual disabilities who are in their fifties. In
some cases, the services offered are minimal, or even non-existent,
and the parents wonder what will happen to their children once they
themselves have died. Sometimes the parents tell us that they
would decide to give their children access to medical assistance in
dying if they could. It's tragic.

This raises some major issues. These are obviously tragic situa-
tions, and the solution probably isn't medical assistance in dying
but rather a social response, to provide services, housing and finan-
cial security to those disabled individuals, as we mentioned earlier.

As 1 said, we're unfortunately hearing these things more and
more frequently.

® (2100)

Mrs. Dominique Vien: Do you think that persons with intellec-
tual disabilities who are aware of medical assistance in dying are so
because they've inquired on their own or because someone has told
them about it?

Mr. Samuel Ragot: That's a difficult question to answer without
making unfair generalizations.

We've definitely read in the newspapers about people who are of-
fered medical assistance in dying for lack of a better solution or for
a lack of services. In light of those incidents, could we say that
medical pressures may be brought to bear based on a certain under-
valuation of the lives of people with disabilities? That must defi-
nitely occur. Can certain persons make valid and legitimate requests
by exercising free and informed consent? That surely happens as
well.

The greater concern is obviously undue pressure and the fact that
MAID may be proposed by default or for lack of a better option.

Mrs. Dominique Vien: You talked about substituted consent.
That refers to a situation in which someone makes decisions for a
child with an intellectual disability, doesn't it?

Mr. Samuel Ragot: Absolutely.

Mrs. Dominique Vien: Are you telling us about this because
parents tell you they'd choose that option if it were available?

Mr. Samuel Ragot: Absolutely.
[English]

The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): Be very brief.
[Translation]

Mr. Samuel Ragot: That option has also been discussed in the
National Assembly of Quebec, where it was rejected. Consequent-
ly, it wasn't included in the bill that was introduced last week.

Substituted consent has always been a relatively easy solution to
apply to to prevent certain individuals from having genuine legal
capacity. Rather than give those persons the tools with which to ex-
ercise their own rights, the system often grants substituted consent
to parents, in particular, and families.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): Thank you.

Mrs. Dominique Vien: Is my time up?

The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): Yes.

[English]
Next, we will have Dr. Fry for five minutes.

Hon. Hedy Fry: Thank you very much, Chair.

Today, I guess I heard a lot of compelling evidence of both peo-
ple who were disabled and people with intellectual disabilities. I
think all of it makes a lot of sense. Obviously, if we had a system in
which we could give everybody the support they needed, economi-
cally, psychologically and socially with support systems in place
for them, and then people, having lived with that, still believe they
would like access MAID with informed consent, I can see that hap-
pening.

I think you're absolutely right. I was appalled to hear some sto-
ries today about people who chose MAID purely because they were
living in poverty and couldn't even afford treatments.

1 could ask you what all three levels of government should do to
give that kind of access, to create a system in which, when you look
at all of the psychosocial supports that are needed, they are indeed
there and are done. What would you suggest that all three levels of
government do to create a seamless system, because provinces are
responsible for thing A, and the federal government is not responsi-
ble for it, and of course we have a patchwork across the country.
What would you suggest?

I'll ask Monsieur Ragot.
[Translation]

Mr. Samuel Ragot: Thank you for your question.

That's another question that's very hard to answer. As our col-
leagues in the Disability Without Poverty movement said, what's
needed is money, a decent income, accessible high-quality public
services and, of course, housing that's secure, accessible, of good
quality and suited to the needs of persons with disabilities.

Transportation also has to be provided so people can get to work
or to the place where their services are provided. We also need psy-
chosocial services: social, psychological and psychotherapy ser-
vices. There has to be a set of support services for persons with dis-
abilities. It really takes a mosaic of services for people really to be
well...

® (2105)
[English]

Hon. Hedy Fry: But it shouldn't be a patchwork, actually. 1
would suggest—

The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): Dr. Fry, I apologize.
There was a slight miscommunication and Mr. Arseneault will take
the other half, if that's okay. I believe one of his witnesses is here
this evening.

Thank you, Dr. Fry.

Monsieur Arseneault.
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[Translation]

Mr. René Arseneault: Thank you, Madam Chair.

My first question is for Ms. Landry, I know it's late where you
are, nearly 10 o'clock.

Some people who oppose medical assistance in dying tell us that
inadequate palliative care could be driving the increased demand
for MAID. According to the statistics, approximately 83% of peo-
ple who've requested such assistance were already in palliative
care, and approximately 15% had decided against palliative care
and requested MAID directly.

Would you please describe your father's experience in that con-
text?

Ms. Jocelyne Landry: That's exactly the situation my father was
in. He was at the end of life, clearly. He was technically in pallia-
tive care, but he had been ill for years. He had had cancer for al-
most 20 years. He had always said that when there was no longer
any quality of life and he was suffering too much, he would opt for
medical assistance in dying, and that's exactly what he did. He
waited until there was no longer any quality of life before making
the request. Technically, he was receiving palliative care. He had
been prescribed medication, including morphine, but he refused to
take it. He wanted to remain lucid up until the final minute. And
then, one day, he requested medical assistance in dying.

I was shocked to hear in the earlier presentation that people had
been able to receive medical assistance in dying within 48 hours. In
my father's case, it took two weeks after he made the request. The
doctor and the medical team regularly checked with him about his
request right up until the final minute, over a period of two weeks.

So the process wasn't exactly rapid. By rapid I mean that it
wasn't within the 48 hours mentioned in the example we were given
earlier about how things are apparently done elsewhere.

Mr. René Arseneault: Thank you very much, Ms. Landry.
My next question is for Mr. Conrad Saulis.

I agree with and understand what you were saying about the fact
that suicide in your community is not an option and that the empha-
sis is on resilience, healing and hope. I would like to see all com-
munities in Canada, no matter where they may be, give the same
message to their young people.

Last week we heard from expert witnesses who told us that they
could distinguish between someone with suicidality who is request-
ing MAID, from a person who is making the same request, but who
does not have suicidal tendencies.

A few of my colleagues were reassured by these comments.

What's your view of psychiatrists who tell us that they can make
this distinction?
[English]

Mr. Conrad Saulis: The measures are of cultural differences.
First nations, Métis and Inuit cultures are vastly different from
mainstream society—European society. We live in your society. We

live under your terms and conditions. We'd love to be living under
our terms and conditions. Being assessed by the standards, values

and morals of the European societies that came over here and estab-
lished the governments in place does not provide the kind of cultur-
al support or knowledge required to determine when an indigenous
person might be considering, or acting on thoughts of, suicide.

® (2110)

Mr. René Arseneault: Sorry to interrupt, Mr. Saulis. Time goes
by so fast here.

If you had one recommendation for a safeguard—only one—
what would it be?

Mr. Conrad Saulis: Regarding safeguards, I would say there
definitely need to be regulatory requirements for people involved in
the medical field who are providing this advice to individuals. They
would need to seek out supportive advice from elders, knowledge-
keepers and family members. That would be a legal requirement for
those medical people.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): Thank you, Mr. Saulis,
and Mr. Arseneault.

Next we'll go to Mr. MacGregor, followed by Mr. Thériault.

Go ahead, Mr. Thériault.
[Translation]

Mr. Luc Thériault: Thank you, Madam Chair.

My questions are for the representatives of the Quebec Intellec-
tual Disability Society.

In one of its recommendations to us, the Association québécoise
pour le droit de mourir dans la dignité stated the following:

To temporarily maintain a complete prohibition on eligibility for medical assis-
tance in dying for persons with a serious intellectual disability unless there is ab-
solute certainty about the person's decision making capacity.

1 was reading the brief that you submitted to the Select Commit-
tee on the Evolution of the Act respecting end-of-life care, in Ju-
ly 2021, and noted that it could also apply to your second recom-
mendation, which was, in all instances to prohibit proxy decisions
on behalf of people with an intellectual disability who are deemed
unable to consent. So far, I would imagine, you might find that re-
assuring.

You also made other interesting recommendations which I be-
lieve are consistent with best practices and reflect what appears to
currently apply in medical practice. You also said that it was essen-
tial to “require that persons with an intellectual disability be unable
to apply for medical assistance in dying unless they are at the end
of life”. I think that borders on the grey area between capacity and
incapacity, in which case I would like to know how one determines
decision making capacity

Ms. Duranleau or Mr. Ragot, can you provide an example of a
case that would fall into this grey area?

Ms. Amélie Duranleau: Mr. Ragot will answer your question.

Mr. Samuel Ragot: That's a difficult question to answer.
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The research would appear to show that people with an intellec-
tual disability understand the death of people around them. That's
pretty clear. They can deal with and live with such situations. What
is less obvious is whether they are capable of understanding the ir-
reversible aspect of their own death. That's when we find ourselves
in a grey area that is very difficult to sort out, as you've just said.

In Quebec, the difference between medical consent and legal
consent, in terms of signing a contract, for example, is established
by means of tests to determine their understanding of the medical
procedures at issue. To my knowledge, there is no perfect tool to
determine whether a person is capable of understanding their deci-
sion to request medical assistance in dying. It really depends on the
severity of the intellectual disability.

Mr. Luc Thériault: You require that a physician with relevant
skills and expertise in intellectual disability participate in the as-
sessment of the request. I would imagine that the corollary of what
you just explained. I think that goes without saying.

You also raised all the issues surrounding socioeconomic in-
equality. I further believe that the assessors would clearly have to
take all of that into account. That's also something that was noted in
the expert report on mental health.

Not only that, but you said that all applications for medical assis-
tance in dying should require a mandatory comprehensive state-
ment from the health professional. I'm not sure what you're thinking
of specifically, given that there are reports already. There is a Que-
bec commission that examines every medical procedure.

Do you think that something more is required? I would imagine
that it's not anything too complicated. What form might it take?

® (2115)

Mr. Samuel Ragot: There was the Vulnerable Persons Standard,
which had been put forward in connection with the first medical as-
sistance in dying bill. The standard suggested measures that would
analyze the social determinants of health and other determinants of
people's vulnerability, and requested that more exhaustive reports
be prepared. This would make it possible to document the real rea-
sons why people were requesting medical assistance in dying,
which might have been less obvious on the surface. That's also
what underlies our advocacy role, because we know that there are
many social determinants of health and vulnerability that act as ma-
jor motivating factors for some people who are requesting medical
assistance in dying.

Mr. Luc Thériault: Your seventh recommendation is “to require
that discussions on medical assistance in dying be initiated only by
patients”. Your eighth recommendation is to “consult the immediate
family when assessing a medical assistance in dying application”
for cases involving an intellectual disability. I believe that these are
measures that should be part of medical practice. Do you get the
impression that the assessors or providers would not be receptive to
that?

It seems to me that the medical community would be altogether
prepared to talk with the families. It goes without saying.

[English]
The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): Be very brief, please.

[Translation]

Mr. Samuel Ragot: Absolutely. I agree.

I think it's mainly about avoiding applications being made as a
result of pressure from medical staff or elsewhere, and which could
result from a certain form of ableism towards these people. It's a
matter of protecting them against having their lives undervalued,
and being placed under undue pressure.

[English]

The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): Mr. MacGregor, you
have five minutes.

Mr. Alistair MacGregor: Thank you very much, Madam Chair.

Mr. Saulis, I'd like to start with you and thank you for appearing
before our committee and offering an important indigenous per-
spective on this conversation we're having.

You very correctly outlined the disparities that exist and the in-
tergenerational trauma that is still there. I know I see it in commu-
nities where I live, among the Halkomelem-speaking people, the
Coast Salish and the Nuu-chah-nulth nations.

I've gotten to know many elders in my time as a member of Par-
liament, and the hurt is there; it's just below the surface.

When you look at the calls to action that were released so many
years ago, and particularly the health calls to action, calls to action
18 to 24, do we need to frame this conversation about medical as-
sistance in dying with that frame in mind, the fact that so many of
these calls to action, particularly on health outcomes and the sup-
ports and services that are available for first nations, Inuit and
Métis across Canada are still so substandard? Can you expand on
that, please?

Mr. Conrad Saulis: I think the calls to action are an excellent
blueprint for moving forward together with indigenous peoples. I
think there is always a need for continuing dialogue between juris-
dictions, federal and provincial, and indigenous nations, whether
they be first nations, Métis, or Inuit. Dialogue and conversations
are what's needed.

The health calls to action, absolutely, are definitely things to uti-
lize and to be benchmarks as we move forward. I think there needs
to be a lot of caution and concern, though, with regard to moving
forward with anything that speaks to or is about medical assistance
in dying and indigenous peoples.

Sam's comments were about social indicators being things that
can be misleading, because indigenous people have such a vastly
different quality of life, substandard quality of life. When you talk
about indigenous persons with disabilities and indigenous youth,
like I said in my presentation, we're talking about the most vulnera-
ble people in Canadian society.
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At the same time, of course, we always have to take into consid-
eration missing and murdered indigenous women and the outcomes
of that. I think the calls to action can be one thing, but there's a lot
more. There are probably things even going back to the Royal
Commission on Aboriginal Peoples, to be very honest with you.
Dust that off and look it over. We live in today's society as well, so
the people who are in the know, so to speak, always have to be in-
cluded and involved.

® (2120)

Mr. Alistair MacGregor: You mentioned the murdered and
missing indigenous women. It was remiss of me to not mention the
calls for justice that are in that report, as well, which have some im-
portant overlap.

Madam Co-Chair, I'm pretty close to the end of my time, so I'll
thank Mr. Saulis for his intervention and cede the rest of my time.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): Thank you, Mr. Mac-
Gregor.

Again, thank you to our witnesses.

I'll turn this back to our co-chair for a round of questions from
senators.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Marc Garneau): Thank you, Co-Chair.
[Translation]

Like the last time, the first three senators will have four minutes.
We'll begin with Senator Mégie.

You have the floor for four minutes, Senator.

Hon. Marie-Frangoise Mégie: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Thank you to the witnesses.

My questions could be for all the witnesses, but one or two of
them might be able to answer.

Normally, a doctor or any other health professional could explain
the various treatment options to a patient, whether for palliative
care or intensive care. However, the anecdotal evidence reported
not only by the media, but also by witnesses, gives me the impres-
sion that these people requested MAID or were forced to request it.

How do you, as someone with a disability, feel about this?

Do you have the impression that no matter where you go, you'll
be pressured to apply for MAID, when you're the person who
should be deciding?

Is that something you're concerned about?

I'm not sure who might want to answer my questions.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Marc Garneau): Perhaps we could be-
gin with the representatives of the Quebec Intellectual Disability
Society.

Please go ahead.

Mr. Samuel Ragot: While that's a very difficult question to an-
swer, I would nevertheless say that ableism is insidious. It's not
openly displayed, or explicitly referred to, very often. It's some-
thing that shows in attitudes, social judgments and obstacles that

people come up against in society. It can sometimes occur in the
medical field, of course.

It bears repeating that the services available are inadequate. As
we have been able to see, there's a shortage of staff in hospitals.
Our health services are in a terrible state, particularly after the pan-
demic. This can indirectly result in resorting to MAID rather than
providing services. That's something we often hear on the ground.

Hon. Marie-Francoise Mégie: If you were offered this option,
you could refuse it, couldn't you?

Mr. Samuel Ragot: If another option were available, then yes,
but very often that's not the case.

Hon. Marie-Francoise Mégie: Would another witness like to
answer my questions?

Perhaps Ms. Landry could give us her thoughts on the matter.
® (2125)

Ms. Jocelyne Landry: Thank you for your question.

In my father's case, no one offered him this option. It really was
a personal initiative. He requested MAID. As I mentioned earlier,
the process ended up taking much longer than we've been talking
about here. The people were very professional. They also spoke to
him about it, questioned his initiative and returned repeatedly to ask
the same questions again to make sure that's really what he wanted.
They also wanted to make sure that he had not been pressured by
anyone.

They always showed respect. They made sure that it was really
what he wanted. Needless to say, his medical record left little
doubt. He was suffering and no longer had any quality of life. Dad
was a bon vivant. He never talked about dying until he was really at
the end of his tether. He was suffering, and clearly at the end of life.
He might have lived for a few more months.

Hon. Marie-Francoise Mégie: Thank you.

Do I have a few seconds left, Mr. Chair?

The Joint Chair (Hon. Marc Garneau): There isn't really any
time left, Senator, unless all you're looking for is a short reply.

Hon. Marie-Francoise Mégie: Yes.

1 don't want to be told that it's just wishful thinking, but if the
government were to do everything possible and adopt proactive
measures to do away with all the obstacles and systemic inequali-
ties, do you think that people who are already being treated unfairly
in terms of access to healthcare would experience the same unequal
treatment in terms of access to MAID?

The Joint Chair (Hon. Marc Garneau): To whom are you ad-
dressing this question?

Hon. Marie-Francoise Mégie: To Ms. Duranleau or Mr. Ragot.

Mr. Samuel Ragot: Could you repeat the question?

To be honest, I'm not at all sure that I understood it.

Hon. Marie-Francoise Mégie: I'll give you a shorter version of
it.
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Given all the systemic inequalities faced by certain groups, then
just as these groups have more trouble gaining access to care and
services, how come they have easier access to MAID?

Mr. Samuel Ragot: It's because the measure is not expensive
and it's easy to organize and offer it to people. It's a straightforward
measure that requires less systemic effort. It requires less effort in
terms of bias and requires less money from the government. It's just
easier. Some people, and I'm not saying that it's our position, have
use the term “eugenics”. That's a term to be used with extreme cau-
tion, but it's something to think about.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Marc Garneau): Thank you very much.
[English]
Senator Kutcher, it's over to you.

Hon. Stan Kutcher: Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.
I want to thank all the witnesses.

My questions are for Ms. Landry. I have two questions, but be-
fore I ask them, I want to note our appreciation for your coming
and talking about a very personal and difficult topic, having lived
experience with MAID. We really appreciate your coming and talk-
ing about a real experience, not hypothetical experience. Thank you
so much.

The first question is what difference did it make to you and your
family that your father could make a decision to choose MAID as
an end-of-life action?

[Translation]

Ms. Jocelyne Landry: My father was among that generation of
men who took control of their lives, built their nest, started a family
and made decisions throughout their lives. It was important for him,
and for us, to be able to make informed choices and decisions. And
this decision was something he had thought about. You might say
that he decided to put an end to his suffering just as, when he was
growing up on the farm, an injured horse or dog would be put out
of its suffering.

Making a decision like that was important for my Dad. He didn't
want to suffer any more. He had already suffered enough.

I am happy and proud to live in a country that gave my father
that option. He didn't have to travel to Switzerland or anywhere
else to have access to it.
® (2130)

[English]

Hon. Stan Kutcher: The other question is whether you could
please share with us how you and your family prepared for your fa-
ther's death by knowing when it would be. Could you consider how

different it might have been for you and your family if he had died
without any preparation?

Ms. Jocelyne Landry: It's a very interesting question.

It was during COVID. It was two years ago. We were in lock-
down at the time.

[Translation]

It would be easier for me to continue in French, if that's all right.

Because it was in the early days of the COVID-19 pandemic, we
kept the house as long as we could. He was of course receiving pal-
liative care at the time, through the outpatient service from the hos-
pital that would come and provide services at home when required.
But Dad wanted to die at the hospital, not at home, probably be-
cause he would have found it difficult if Mom were to die at home.
He therefore insisted that he be taken to the hospital. Once in the
hospital, though, he couldn't have any visitors. Mom was also over
80 years old. So I found it unacceptable for her to be supporting
Dad without any other help from the family. So I contacted the
province's Office of the Chief Medical Officer of Health for per-
mission to have at least one of the children providing support. We
received permission. I was there the day before Dad left us, and my
brother was there the day he left.

The preparatory process was gradual. For a number of years, Dad
had been telling us that once he no longer had any quality of life
and wanted to put an end to his suffering, he would request medical
assistance in dying. He came to that decision quite a long time be-
forehand. He had spoken to his doctor, but that's not who performed
the procedure. The Restigouche medical team in charge of the pro-
cedure was very conscientious and did their work highly profes-
sionally. Not only that, but for Dad, the wait was a little too long.
He would have liked to go to the hospital and for it to be done with-
in a few hours or days. But it took a lot longer. Towards the end, he
was saying that waiting to die was taking too long. He nevertheless
joked with us right up to the final minute, but he was ready, and we
said goodbye to him.

When [ drove him to the hospital with Mom, we were crying, of
course, but I respected his decision and it was important for us to
tell him so. We understood his suffering and respected his choice. I
think that it was important for him as well as for us.

For my mother, the experience was different. When her father
had died, she was with him, and he died a peaceful, natural death.
She always used to say that her father's death was like a candle
burning out. For my father, however, the emotional experience was
different. He was her spouse, they were the same age, and they had
shared 60 years together.

It was therefore more distressing and difficult for her, because
the process took a lot longer than she had expected. After the drugs
had been injected, it took about 20 minutes for his heart to stop
beating. But even though she found it distressing and hard, she re-
spected his decision.

Up to that point, my mother had always said that when she was
ill near the end of life, she would opt for that solution. However,
after her experience with my father, she didn't want her children to
have to go through it again.

® (2135)

The Joint Chair (Hon.
Ms. Landry.

Marc Garneau): Thank you,

Over to you, Senator Dalphond.
Hon. Pierre Dalphond: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I'd like to thank all the witnesses for their testimony, and we are
grateful to them for having been here.
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[English]
My question is for Mr. Conrad Saulis.

Mr. Saulis, I'm happy to see you back. We met two years ago
when we were discussing the previous situation of the bill.

I assume you have read the report from the task force. One of the
task force's recommendations is to make sure there is consultation
with first nations, Inuit and Métis peoples to make the MAID sys-
tem incorporate indigenous perspectives and other factors relevant
to their communities. The report also notes that, to date, engage-
ment with indigenous peoples in Canada concerning MAID has yet
to occur. I understand you will be in agreement with the task force's
recommendation to engage in conversations with first nations about
making systems that will be culturally sensitive and that relate to
the spiritual values of the first nations.

Mr. Conrad Saulis: Thank you very much for the question.

When we're talking about medical assistance in dying.... It's such
a foreign concept in the first nations world, in my experience grow-
ing up on the reserve, and in all the work I've done and continue to
do. As I said in a previous answer, conversations are always re-
quired and necessary for governments, as well as medical service
providers, to understand the values, morals and perspectives. We
look at the world through the teachings of the medicine wheel—the
emotional, the spiritual, the physical and the mental. Those are very
real to us. Those were almost lost to us. Conversations are always
going to be necessary. Even after conversations are had, more con-
versations are still going to be needed, so whatever dia-
logue...whomever....

I know there are many first nations and indigenous people in-
volved in the medical field, as both practitioners and analysts. I
mentioned Joyce Echaquan a while ago—what she went through
and the medical experience she had. Sadly, it's not any different for
many of us who go from our first nation community—called a re-
serve—to the local hospital in town. We just know it's not a wel-
coming environment. How do you trust that? How do you trust an
environment where you're looked down upon? The findings of the
Wabano health centre here in Ottawa, as well as the Ottawa Aborig-
inal Coalition, are the opinions and findings of people they spoke
with, and who responded to interviews and questions. Look at those
conclusions. I really hope you hear from the Wabano health clinic
and Ottawa Aboriginal Coalition. I'm sure they would have a lot of
thoughtful and meaningful things to say based on their experiences.

® (2140)
The Joint Chair (Hon. Marc Garneau): Thank you, Mr. Saulis.

Senator Martin, you have three minutes.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): Thank you to all of our
witnesses.

I'll end with a quick question for Mr. Saulis to give him an op-
portunity to tell us what the federal government can do to care for
indigenous youth instead of offering MAID.

We're discussing what would happen with mature minors. You
said you spoke to youth before this, and I think your voice is very
important this evening. What can the federal government do?

Mr. Conrad Saulis: I believe there is such a vacuum of youth
programming and support for indigenous youth. One of the groups
we're working with is an indigenous group based out of Cape Bre-
ton, Unama'ki, in Nova Scotia. They struggle and are challenged to
find any kind of funding to support them to be able to have the con-
versations they want to have.

That's definitely one of those things. The federal government
needs to have a much stronger and better program directed towards
indigenous youth so that they, themselves, can come together; they,
themselves, can be their own leaders; and they, themselves, can
identify the things they want to talk about.

I know that invariably they're going to want to talk about lan-
guage and culture and being able to connect with elders and tradi-
tional knowledge keepers and land-based learning and things like
that, but they're also very serious people. I think that if those kinds
of resources are provided to indigenous youth, as well as safe-
guards within whatever legislation and whatever policies that are in
the regulations attached to the legislation.... Safeguards are needed
to protect the indigenous youth of these lands.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): Thank you.
[Translation]

The Joint Chair (Hon. Marc Garneau): Thank you very much.

We've come to the end of the meeting. I'd like to thank the wit-
nesses who were with us this evening.

Ms. Jocelyne Landry, I'd like to thank you for your highly per-
sonal testimony about your father.

I would also like to thank the representatives of the Quebec Intel-
lectual Disability Society. And I'd like to thank you, Ms. Duranleau
and Mr. Ragot, For your testimony and for answering our ques-
tions.

[English]
Finally, Mr. Conrad Saulis, thank you very much for coming this
evening and providing us with the indigenous perspective on this

very important subject. We very much appreciate it.

With that, this brings us to the end of this evening's committee
meeting.

We will be meeting next Monday at 6:30. Thank you.

We are adjourned.
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